Building public trust through tax reporting

A review of the tax disclosures of the top 100 companies listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 2020.



March 2022







www.pwc.co.za





Contents

	Foreword	1
	You can't buy trust – you have to earn it	2
	A significant shift in the role of business	
	Delivering sustainable value	
	Influential investor sentiment	
	A new era of reporting	
	Where to focus	
	Contribution to society as a whole	
	A continuous dialogue on tax	
	The DwC Tex Trenenereney Fremework	18
-	The PwC Tax Transparency Framework	10
-	Transparency for whom and for what purpose	
	Transparency by sector representation	
	Transparency by company type	
11-	Average transparency per category of the PwC Framework	
-	Are we at the tipping point?	48
-	Are we at the tipping point?	40
	We recommend	
11111		

Contact us

MAN

PwC | iii

49

iv | Building public trust through ax reporting – 6th edition

1



Foreword

It has been eight years since we performed our first assessment of tax transparency provided by the top 100 companies on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE). Back then the focus was very much on the mistrust resulting from large multinationals who were seen to be evading taxes. This focus still remains; however, we now look at businesses as the most trusted institutions. We look at every interaction, every experience, every relationship and every outcome delivered and how it can build trust. There is a significant shift in the role of business to build trust and deliver sustained outcomes to the benefit of all stakeholders. This shift explains the imperative for environmental, social and governance (ESG) strategies.

It also echoes our vision: 'The New Equation', focussing on two interconnected needs that organisations will face in the coming years: building trust across a wide range of areas that are important to stakeholders and delivering sustained outcomes in an environment where the risk of disruption is more intense than ever before.

We know that demonstrating accountability and providing reliable information is key to delivering certainty and essential to building relationships based on trust. Companies must be accountable for the impacts they have on society. Part of this is committing to comprehensive reporting on tax. Modern society no longer sees tax as a cost factor but as a tool for socio-economic cohesion, sustainable value growth and long-term prosperity. Tax must be seen and be reported in the context of ESG commitments. In the 6th edition of our *Building Public Trust through Tax Reporting* publication we look at emerging trends in tax transparency and material topics for stakeholders. We provide a year-on-year comparison over the last three years of tax transparency in South Africa, in areas such as tax strategy and risk management, tax numbers and performance, total tax contribution and wider impact.

With more guidance coming to the fore on voluntary tax reporting, the basic message is that it is time for companies to consider their tax transparency strategy.

Even though growth in the average overall tax transparency amongst the companies surveyed slowed down, we continue to be encouraged by the variety of initiatives that companies take to tell their tax story, thereby demonstrating good corporate citizenship as responsible taxpayers. What is evident is that companies who provide authentic, structured, accessible, and easy to read information on tax find favour from stakeholders who require an objective assessment of a company's position on tax. We encourage you to become part of the tax transparency dialogue.

As in previous years, we thank the department of accounting at the University of Pretoria for assuming responsibility for the assessment of the top 100 companies listed on the JSE, as well as our review panel for their effort, insight and dedication to support this initiative. Their contribution in this regard is both invaluable and greatly appreciated.



You can't buy trust you have to earn it

Trust has never been more important. It's the link that connects your organisation, your people, your customers, your stakeholders and the world. During times of uncertainty, organisations, people, communities and other stakeholders look to institutions they can trust.

We know that trust isn't something you can buy off the shelf. It's something you earn through every interaction, every experience, every relationship and every outcome delivered.

A significant shift in the role of business

In 2021 the Edelman's Trust Barometer found that, for the first time, business is the most trusted institution in the world, overtaking NGOs, government and media. Businesses must increasingly demonstrate both why they're trustworthy and how they are contributing to society. The 2022 Edelman's Trust Barometer further confirms that business' societal role is here to stay. Clear, consistent and fact-based information is critical to breaking the cycle of distrust and 81% of respondents want business to discuss what they have done to solve society's problems.

Maximizing shareholder profit will always be important, but to break the cycle of distrust, businesses must embrace stakeholder capitalism and recognise its equal obligations to all stakeholders—consumers, employees, communities, and investors.

Business must lead with trustworthy and quality information, modeling responsible communication.

Edelman 2022 Trust Barometer¹

1 https://www.edelman.com/trust/2022-trust-barometer/stabilizing-force-business





In the current environment, business leaders face two fundamental challenges: firstly, how to build trust with a broad range of stakeholders, whose expectations of business are higher than ever before; and secondly, how to adapt their businesses and deliver sustained outcomes in a rapidly changing environment.

A company's purpose in society is under scrutiny and the demands on its reporting are increasing. Investors and other stakeholders are demanding more holistic information about companies' long-term value creation opportunities and their wider impact on society.

At a time when we face growing socio-economic and environmental challenges, the question is how do you explain the impact your organisation has on the economy, the environment and people? The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) believes informing all stakeholders is good for business. By providing comparable, verifiable information on an organisation's sustainability efforts, you show the world that you practice what you preach.²

2 The GRI perspective: A business case for environment & society

There are many ways to build trust and deliver sustained outcomes. Organisations that address these interconnected needs successfully do so through a strategy that is guided by their societal purpose.

"

In response to technological disruption, climate change, fractured geopolitics, and the continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, amongst other challenges, many organisations need to refocus. There is a sense of urgency now, with regard to successfully responding to these challenges by building trust and delivering sustained outcomes that create value. As a community of solvers, PwC Africa has strengthened its own greater societal purpose strategy in response to these unprecedented changes, making a difference where we are able to, with the skills and resources we have.

Government cannot drive economic recovery and growth alone; most areas of economic activity are dominated by the private sector, including investment, employment and innovation. There's a need for business to come together to stimulate growth and improve livelihoods, including through a concerted contribution to public finances.

Shirley Machaba, PwC South Africa CEO



Delivering sustainable value

The COVID-19 pandemic has pushed large corporates to rethink the way they operate and how they build trust and deliver sustained outcomes. The increased complexity in many of the structural challenges society faces, brought about by the current uncertainty, has caused individuals and organisations to demand transparency and reliable information they can trust.

Dion Shango, PwC Africa Territory Senior Partner

The global pandemic heightened awareness of how interconnected we all are, how rapidly external shocks can work through the global economy, and how central trust and transparency are to the economy's operation.

Increasingly, stakeholders of all kinds are expecting companies to do more to help tackle the big issues, such as climate change, public debt, and social inequalities. They hold organisations accountable for delivering sustainable value. In fact, stakeholders tend to place more trust in organisations that demonstrate a sustained interest in communities, the environment and good governance. They expect organisations to do more than simply 'tick a box'. They expect more transparency and sustainable actions and are interested in information that goes beyond a company's financial report. They require insight into an organisation's financial and non-financial metrics to better understand a company's performance and diverse social, governance and environmental risks – through insightful, balanced and trusted performance and disclosure.

In Africa and beyond, we believe that organisations must integrate environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations into their corporate and investment initiatives and activities, and internalise ESG holistically, to build trust and ensure long-term sustainability, agility and competitiveness.

Jayne Mammatt, ESG Africa Leader PwC Africa

ESG criteria are a set of environmental, social and governance standards for a company's operations. But ESG is no longer only a topic for environmentalists or activists. Everyone now agrees that ESG is affecting us all and it is not only about doing good, creating a better planet, a better working space and better environment for us all, but it's also about creating value.

A major takeaway from new PwC research³, conducted in September 2021, is that investors are paying more attention to the ESG risks and opportunities facing the companies they invest in, and are poised to take action. Nearly 80% of participants said ESG was an important factor in their investment decision-making; 75% said companies should address ESG issues, even if doing so reduces short-term profitability and nearly half of the respondents said they are willing to divest from companies that aren't taking sufficient action on ESG issues.

³ PwC, 2020 Annual Corporate Directors Survey

Influential investor sentiment

One of the dimensions of the ESG revolution is reimagined reporting. As companies re-evaluate what they report publicly, non-financial information on tax should be part of their consideration.

G Between active policy conversations and intensifying societal expectations, the role of taxes has evolved to become a catalyst for delivering trust and driving sustained business outcomes.

> Ken Kuykendall, PwC US Tax Leader and Tax Consulting Leader

According to the United Nations Principles for Responsible investment

G G ...there is an imperative for long-term institutional investors to understand aggressive tax practices within their investments, support a shift away from tax practices that are short-term and unsustainable, advocate the creation of a level playing field in tax policy matters and communicate expectations to companies in order to drive broader societal and economic objectives.

Investors' focus on companies' ESG-related commitments and actions has brought reporting into the spotlight. They are tracing all publicly available information and setting up investing screens based on benchmarks that track everything from emissions levels, to human rights, to diversity. They look at netzero policies, tighter linkages between ESG targets and executive compensation packages and a company's position on tax.

As an example, in 2021 Norway's \$1.3 trillion wealth fund, the world's largest, for the first time pulled investments from companies because of their tax policies - this adds considerable weight to the argument that, while many companies strive to be upstanding corporate citizens, they may have lost sight of the need to effectively communicate their stance on tax matters.

F Investors want to assess the credibility of a company's ESG strategy and performance – a key mechanism for this is ESG reporting which needs to be consistent, comparable, balanced and have integrity. Tax, in all its forms, is a critical part of a company's strategy and performance and hence should be included in the ESG disclosures or wider external reporting.

Jayne Mammatt, ESG Africa Leader PwC Africa

Given the compelling case for investor action, the lack of corporate transparency on tax issues has impaired investment analysis and understanding of how companies are positioned on tax issues. Improvements in corporate tax reporting are crucial for better risk assessment.

Investors are therefore demanding more accurate, timely and meaningful corporate reporting to enable better assessment of tax risks and opportunities and to identify leading practices in their portfolio. Without granular information on taxes paid and other economic and financial data at a tax jurisdiction level (better known as public Country by Country Reporting (CbCR)), investors cannot compare companies on their tax practices, pick up red flags or validate tax commitments. They expect companies to employ governance mechanisms that enable implementation and appropriate oversight of a company's tax strategy. They also expect disclosure of underlying economic and financial data that support any wider assertions made by companies concerning those practices.

With that said, enhanced tax transparency is a means to an end and does not in itself guarantee responsible tax practice. However, in the absence of standardised reporting, robust disclosure will help investors gauge companies' positions on tax and facilitate assessment of their exposure to tax risks.

For instance, meaningful disclosure could bring to light boardroom priorities and decision making around high-risk transactions. It could also help identify inconsistencies between companies' public positions and actions, providing a valuable backdrop for discussions with companies on the development of responsible corporate tax strategies and relevant implementation practices.

Tax disclosures are increasingly being considered a sustainability issue, but what does this mean for business?

Tax is a key mechanism by which organisations contribute to the economies and societies of the countries in which they operate, with businesses expected to address concerns from all stakeholders on tax. It is no longer a private matter between tax teams and tax authorities.

To many tax executives, 'ESG' sounds like a buzzword, or, worse, an unrealistic, moral aspiration. But, in fact, ESG is expanding its reach. While tax has not always been at the leading edge of this business revolution, it has been involved from the beginning – and this involvement is now beginning to accelerate. Even before COVID-19, it was hard to argue that tax has no impact on society and therefore would not be material for companies.

In essence, taxes fund essential public services to fulfil people's rights such as health care, education and the justice system. They also fund the public infrastructure needed to raise living standards, increase equality and build well-functioning economies in developing countries. Taxes play an even more important role in domestic revenue by which developing countries can mobilise resources for financing development and addressing issues such as poverty and wealth inequality. It also provides these countries with more independence and makes governments accountable to their tax paying citizens, rather than foreign donors and lenders.

According to the PwC Africa Business Agenda 2021 report 56% of CEOs in Africa are extremely concerned about tax policy uncertainty, plummeting government revenues and fragile economic growth are fuelling an increase in government debt across Africa. This could result in tax aggression by the government, increases in tax rates or introduction of new taxes. We asked our Fiscal Policy Partner and Africa Tax Leader, Taiwo Oyedele to share his views on how important tax stakeholder engagement and being able to tell your tax story is for large taxpayers in Africa:

It has become more important now than ever before, for businesses as a key stakeholder group within the tax system and the economy at large, to rethink their approach to tax governance. While it is critical to do the right thing at the right time with respect to paying taxes, it is not sufficient. Large taxpayers in Africa need to go the extra mile to consistently demonstrate their unfailing commitment to tax transparency, board level focus on tax matters, and contribution towards the development of a sustainable tax policy environment for economic prosperity.

The last ten years have seen an increasingly complex global tax landscape. Modern society no longer sees tax as a cost factor but as a tool for socio-economic cohesion, sustainable value growth and long-term prosperity.

As far as tax is concerned, it is important for tax executives to be dealing with Environmental and, even more directly, Governance aspects of multiplying ESG impacts, otherwise they and their business could find themselves on the wrong side, not just of regulators and tax authorities, but also society (including their consumers) who are increasingly interested in the societal (Social) aspects of ESG.





The new reality – Tax is an ESG metric.

Tax must be seen in the context of ESG commitments, made by businesses and governments alike, in the context of the achievement of the UN's Sustainable Development Goals in 2030 and Corporate Sustainability Reporting. Governments and parliaments are increasingly interested in the use of tax as an instrument for behavioural change.

With the focus on ESG issues, the trend towards greater transparency and reporting continues to build – particularly for large global companies – due to both increasing reporting and transparency standards across the world, or increasing stakeholder pressure and expectations.

Tax can be a complex topic – and mandatory disclosures do not always provide a clear picture of a company's tax affairs, particularly for non-tax readers.

Many companies are making voluntary disclosures to provide stakeholders with a better understanding of their tax affairs. In addition to voluntary tax disclosures, we are seeing companies include a narrative to answer common questions about their tax position.

This has the potential to increase stakeholder understanding and trust. It provides companies with the opportunity to tell their story about their total tax contributions.

By being more transparent around their tax affairs, companies can respond to the evermore challenging environment and scrutiny they face.

It can also help to outline how a company's tax strategy aligns with both their ESG strategy and broader business strategy.

Carol Stubbings, PwC's Global Tax and Legal Services Leader

Every organisation's approach to tax is unique, as is the scope of change required to implement an ESG tax strategy. However, there are two interconnected needs that we believe help to explain the imperative for ESG strategies, at every organisation:

- the need to build trust, and
- the need to deliver sustained outcomes.

A new era of reporting

While we see plenty of companies publishing sustainability ESG reporting, it is often fragmented and inconsistent. This makes decision making for stakeholders – whether investors, customers, employees and policy makers – challenging. To enable a better understanding of a company's long-term performance and value creation prospects and sustainability, we need to transition to globally consistent, assured non-financial reporting that is as robust as financial reporting. Better reporting doesn't just measure sustainable value creation, it incentivises it. Reporting does not just measure the system; it helps power it.

The three main reporting standards are the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) and Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). The standards of GRI and the SASB follow a holistic ESG approach, whereas the TCFD is purely focused on climate-related topics. GRI's standards are the oldest, best-known and by far the most used standards in the world. SASB's standards, as part of the Value Reporting Foundation, and also TCFD's standards, follow the classical financial materiality principle and are aimed at investors. However the GRI standards follow the double materiality principle and a multi-stakeholder approach.

The concept of double materiality and its interpretation link to tax

Giving only financial substance to the materiality concept with regard to tax, as is the case with IAS 12 (IFRS) and ASC 740 (US GAAP), with only the financial impact on the company itself, is incompatible with sustainability reporting strategies of companies. Why? Because double materiality is about impact on the environment and society and not just about enterprise value creation. All using GRI standards understand the double materiality concept on topics like human rights, diversity, social inclusion, child labour, equal pay, water pollution, carbon emissions etc. So why not on tax? Tax behaviour has an impact on society, that is a fact.

When it comes to giving substance to tax policies in relation to ESG, there is only one independent standard for tax purposes worldwide that companies can use for their tax disclosures: GRI 207."

Eelco van der Enden, CEO – Global Reporting Initiative

When it comes to tax in ESG reporting, the Global Reporting Initiative standard 207: Tax 2019 (GRI 207) is the only independent global standard under which companies can report on taxation. We are seeing that a growing number of very large companies world-wide are already reporting tax on a voluntary basis under GRI 207. What is noteworthy is that in some instances these reports are accompanied by statements by external assurance providers who give a degree of assurance on the quality of the reporting.



Guidance on voluntary tax reporting

Other influencers also put tax firmly on the sustainability reporting agenda, most notably the International Business Council: Toward Common Metrics and Consistent Reporting of Sustainable Value Creation, Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI)'s Engagement Guidance on Corporate Tax Responsibility, the B Team's Responsible Tax Principles, and the European Business Tax Forum. These documents are a clear indication that tax in general, and public tax transparency in particular, can add substantial value to the sustainability debate.

Overview of GRI 207

In December 2019, the GRI issued the 207 tax standard (GRI 207), which was introduced to meet stakeholder demands for greater transparency around tax, especially with regard to country-by-country reporting. The standard is applicable for reports published from 1 January 2021.

Global investors, civil society groups, labour organisations and other stakeholders have signalled their support for this new tax standard as it will help address their growing demands for tax transparency.

The standard contains three management approach disclosures and one topic-specific disclosure:



Any organisation can choose to align with the GRI. However, an organisation that follows the GRI in its sustainability reporting should also follow the tax standard if tax has been identified as a material topic by stakeholders

The GRI 207 tax standard is an example of this integration between tax and ESG. Tax teams should ensure they are aligned with their sustainability teams on how the company will respond to these developments.

Public country-by-country reporting

CbCR is a broadly used term which usually refers to the reporting of certain financial information (e.g. revenue, profit, number of employees, assets, corporate income tax paid etc.) at an individual country level, rather than globally, to revenue authorities. There have been calls across the globe to make CbCR public, and these developments are gaining momentum. Some companies have started to provide public CbCR voluntarily.



Public country-by-country reporting became a mandatory requirement and entered into force through the amendment of the EU Accounting Directive for multinational groups that fulfil certain criteria. It is also an integral part of several sustainability reporting frameworks (such as GRI 207) and sustainability questionnaires (such as Dow Jones Sustainability Indices (DJSI)). It is clear that public country-by-country reporting enhances corporate transparency by providing more corporate data to the public. Further, a number of multinational groups, either individually or collectively, in addition to publishing CbCR, also went a step further and published their total tax and/or economic contributions. Therefore, the mandatory requirement of public CbCR may also result in additional tax related data to be published, either as a requirement or as a voluntary disclosure.

Global multinational companies are required to disclose financial and tax data in accordance with internationally accepted financial accounting and reporting standards. Public tax transparency goes beyond such requirements. It is about the additional tax-related public disclosures both on qualitative (tax governance framework, tax strategy, tax risk framework to name some of them) and quantitative data (CbCR, Total Tax and Economic Contributions, etc.). Recent political and sustainability reporting developments such as the amendment of the EU Accounting Directive on public CbCR, the sustainability reporting frameworks (such as GRI 207) and sustainability questionnaires (such as DJSI) that required additional tax-related disclosures as well as the market pressure (i.e. the 'domino effect' when industry peers published certain tax-related information). Furthermore, institutional investors are interested in how sustainably investee companies govern their tax affairs and whether any uncertain tax positions are managed rigorously. As a result, public tax transparency could meet institutional investors' requirements on tax matters.

Charalambos Antoniou Swiss Tax Function Design and Tax Transparency Leader



In the current landscape clear and consistent information to objectively assess a company's position on tax is crucial

Challenging times

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a re-evaluation of the relationship between the private and public sectors. With the recent announcement from the G7 signalling an agreement on a minimum corporate income tax rate of 15% alongside the OECD work on Pillar 2, questions around whether companies are paying their fair share of taxes are again being re-examined. Governments around the world are experiencing acute fiscal deficits because of the economic turmoil caused by the public health crisis with many administrations turning to businesses to boost tax receipts.

Considering the current international trend towards mandating more transparency on tax related matters, it is important for South African companies to voluntarily comply with international best practice on tax transparency reporting. Making this information publicly available encourages capital investment as it enables investors to better assess tax risk. It also facilitates reputation management, especially in these challenging economic times, as it allows companies to demonstrate how they contribute to the societies in which they operate.

Lizette Kotze, Senior Lecturer at University of Pretoria

Tax reporting is a voluntary compliance system founded on the basis of trust, and the total amount of tax that companies pay is increasingly seen as currency in the trust debate. As society's expectations of business continue to evolve, tax offers a way to demonstrate trust while threading the needle between business drivers and stakeholder demands.

Being a good corporate citizen as per King IV[™] embodies having a responsible and transparent tax policy. Whilst an organisation needs to ensure it is making a profit from a sustainability and growth perspective, it also needs to ensure that the business activities and decisions it takes in order to make that profit is done taking into account the impact on the economy, society and environment. Producing reports which go beyond the general feedback by providing meaningful and value add information (such as specific practices and initiatives implemented as well as concise information), will improve stakeholders understanding of the business and its contribution to the triple context. A good balance between figures and explanations should be found to make reporting valuable and not merely repeating standard wording that doesn't really delve into the detail.

Vikeshni Vandayar, Executive: Governance and Corporate Services - Institute of Directors in South Africa





Where to focus

The basic message is that it is time for companies to consider their approach to public tax transparency – especially in the wake of the pandemic. The direction of travel is clear, but there is a lot of uncertainty about the precise path and the pace of change.

Here are five issues for CFOs and tax teams to consider as they contemplate a more tax transparent future

Engage the board

Growing pressure from investors and a wider set of stakeholders makes tax transparency a board-level issue. Reporting on how you create sustainable value through your approach to tax and tax contributions is not a PR exercise; it is vital to maintaining the trust of governments, investors, regulators, employees and customers. That is partly about ensuring the data is accurate, but it is also about ensuring that it is supported by tangible evidence of robust governance and a culture of good corporate citizenship. Trust comes when stakeholders are convinced you are genuinely committed to creating sustainable value—both financial and non-financial.

Know your strategy

"Transparency for whom and for what purpose". What stakeholders are demanding is transparency about what matters—not transparency about every nook and cranny of your business. That means each organisation will have its own reporting approach, which is likely to include a comprehensive baseline (such as GRI 207) and bespoke metrics relating to your sector and specific business and stakeholder groups. Metrics and disclosures need to be significant for stakeholders—relating to material issues—and challenging enough to make compliance meaningful.

Think about systems, not just frameworks

Regardless of what framework the market ultimately chooses, make sure your company has the ability to gather and report non-financial tax data effectively. Doing this properly is much more than just a communications-led effort which results in the team publishing a tax report. It means having the right data, governance, processes, controls, skills and assurance. Think in terms of systems, not metrics—a trustworthy number is just the tip of an iceberg, but the iceberg is required to keep it floating.

Use the same rigor you apply to financial data

It is already the case that non-financial tax metrics can be just as important as financial ones—how your total cash taxes are paid, and the location where they are paid, matters more to communities than only your corporate tax. You will be expected to report such information with the same rigor as your financial numbers.

Go digital

Transparency is enabled by providing tax data in flexible digital formats that third parties can process and use. We are on a journey from static documents on corporate websites to engaging formats, for both data and storytelling.









Public tax transparency –

These developments make public tax transparency an important topic right now. Adopting a policy of public tax transparency is the first step towards the public tax transparency journey. Developing a clear understanding of the tax transparency requirements and engaging internal stakeholders on what actions, internal and external, need to be taken is essential. The development of a public tax transparency report will not happen overnight, therefore there is a need for preparing well in advance to ensure the data required to be published is available and the relevant narrative that accompanies such data is carefully drafted.

Charalambos Antoniou Swiss Tax Function Design and Tax Transparency Leader

Contribution to society as a whole

We asked Carolynn Chalmers, Chief Executive of the Good Governance Academy some pertinent questions on the topic of tax transparency:

Why should companies consider their current Tax Transparency strategy?

"Organisations can achieve more than individuals and also impact nature more than individuals. It is important then that organisations contribute to the well-being of more than relevant stakeholders, but also to society as a whole – this is imperative for sustainability of the organisation itself. Such contributions include remuneration, social investment and taxation. Stakeholders are aware of negative organisational impacts. It is therefore in the best interests of the organisation that stakeholders are also aware of the organisation's contributions (positive impacts). Taxation is an important area where transparency can build stakeholder goodwill beyond mere compliance – the organisation can demonstrate that it is 'doing its best' for society and the environment. In the 21st century tax transparency is a sustainability imperative.

In the case of organisations operating across multiple jurisdictions, it is necessary for the organisation to provide tax details per jurisdiction. In addition, as a matter of fairness, organisations should, and should be seen to, contribute towards the infrastructure of countries in which they operate. This should be beyond mere compliance but consider the positive and negative impacts it has on the society and nature of these countries."

What are the risks and benefits of providing more information about tax to the public?

"Tax information should be provided to stakeholders in clear, concise and understandable reports, failing which, readers will not appreciate, or can even misunderstand, the organisation's intentions."





What disclosures would create value?

"With respect to tax information, disclosures should assist stakeholders to understand:

- the organisation's governance of taxation information and activities (increased certainty)
- the organisation's contribution to the fiscus of each jurisdiction within which it operates
- how the organisation is ensuring that its tax contributions are being used appropriately
- the value generated by the organisation which has been contributed towards taxation
- the technical financial considerations for investment purposes
- an analysis of this information over time with consideration for future expectations."

How will technology impact the Tax Transparency agenda?

"Technology can positively impact the tax transparency agenda by enabling stakeholders to navigate the vast array of information to source that which is most pertinent and understandable for them. However, it can negatively impact the agenda when incorrect or inaccurate information is communicated by or about the organisation's tax position."

Does a company need to consider balancing its actions and messaging between purpose (the impact on society in which it operates) and profit (tax as a cost that needs to be minimised)?

"Yes, the board should explain the organisation's value generation objectives for each identified stakeholder as well as for society and the environment through taxation and social investment. It should also explain how this value has been generated (positive and negative) and distributed in a sustainable way."

Sustainability issues and environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) metrics and investors are increasingly taking an interest in the tax behaviour of businesses and how that aligns with the company's sustainability strategy, values, and purpose: What should companies be doing now to assess what this means for their business?

"Today, sustainability and ESG cannot be considered as separate from the organisation's business model, they are of equal strategic importance to that of the organisation's financial profit generation. An organisation's tax behaviour is an indicator of the board's intent with regards to taxation. A board is charged to act in the best interests of the organisation, and this necessarily means the long-term sustainability of the organisation. The organisation's contribution to taxation is a key enabler of its sustainability. As with every investment, however, it is also in the organisation's best interest that the return on this investment is maximised and the intended social and natural benefits are realised. It is therefore equally important for the organisation to become informed of and influence the way in which its taxation is utilised for the benefit of society and nature."

A continuous dialogue on tax

We sat down with Nazrien Kader, Group Head of Tax for Old Mutual, to hear about the Group's approach to demonstrating how it creates shared value for investors, employees, customers and their families and communities and its relation to tax.

Old Mutual made a significant effort to improve voluntary reporting on tax for the 2020 financial year. Where did this journey start and what were the key drivers influencing the relevance and importance of this initiative?

"Companies across the world had a fragmented approach to tax disclosure. Each one, including Old Mutual, had their own interpretation of what 'good' looked like. GRI 207 provided us with guidelines on what companies needed to demonstrate. As a global business, we have taken consideration of global best practice on tax transparency. For instance, we closely identify with the Responsible Tax Principles as articulated by the 'B Team'. We are also heavily influenced by the guidance in terms of King IV. As a signatory to the United Nations Global Compact, we subscribe to those principles as well. For us as a global financial services group, dominant in every African country in which we conduct business - Old Mutual is amongst the largest taxpayers in every country in which we operate – it was a 'no brainer' that we should be more tax transparent. We understand our role and responsibility to every jurisdiction. We want the various revenue authorities to understand our approach to tax and our tax strategy. Our tax transparency report seemed to be a great way to share this."

How did you decide who your stakeholders are and what is of interest to them when you considered the scope and context of your 2020 tax transparency report?

"Our disclosure in our 2020 tax transparency report was voluntary. Our relationship with stakeholders such as regulators and revenue authorities are couched in legislation. The provision of this voluntary information, over and above that, is our attempt at building deeper trust.

Our CFO, Casper Troskie and I started by saying that the communities in which we operate need to know that we are contributing our fair share in their country. It is also important to us that our employees across all jurisdictions know that we are a significant taxpayer and that we pay our dues.

As a financial services provider and responsible taxpayer, it was also incumbent on us to set the benchmark for our peers in those jurisdictions".



From an industry point of view are there any specific areas of disclosures that stakeholders are looking for around tax?

"Although not required by any legislation, our tax transparency report is a powerful signal of what we stand for as an organisation.

As a large taxpayer, Casper and I wanted our communities and respective revenue authorities to understand what our tax contribution means for every country, for example in the way we disclosed the direct relation between our tax contribution to the national budgets in each country.

We wanted the information to be meaningful. We went to the extent of explaining the tax contribution of our largest and also our most complex Life Insurance business, in as simplified a manner as we could, for all stakeholders to understand."

What do you think "trust" means to your stakeholders in the context of the tax environment?

"Trust, accountability and integrity are embedded values of Old Mutual and true of the leadership of Old Mutual. At a basic human level, looking at the organisation that you are employed by, you want an indication that your values and that of the organisation, match. When it came to tax transparency and trust in particular, for me it meant how much we choose to disclose and how honestly we do that. It wasn't just about what we paid, it was about how we do it, how we set ourselves up to determine the amount that we pay. To build trust it is critically important that our stakeholders understand what our tax strategy is, what our approach to paying taxes is, and what we stand for.

Those three things: trust, accountability and integrity – these are not just words in a report, it is also about the values of the people that are responsible for our tax numbers, telling our story and demonstrating to our stakeholders who we are."

Were there any challenges that you faced in the process of becoming more transparent about your taxes and how did you overcome them?

"We published our tax transparency report simultaneously with the entire Old Mutual reporting suite. Casper and I had to formulate a strong motivation, setting out conceptually what we intend to present in the report and take it through a thorough process of discussion and approval, through various committees at board level.

Parallel to that, we had to draw data from our systems and people in sufficient granularity and verify it to make sure that we could stand behind everything that we published. The process was iterative in nature, starting off with 2019 information, bringing it to life with actual numbers, connecting the dots and building the narrative around what the numbers were telling us, and telling our story simply to make it meaningful.

This was the first year that we prepared this report. We set an internal benchmark and we are committed to improving what we publish, going forward. As I said, it's a start of a conversation and our ambitions don't end there.

I was thrilled that there was not a single dissenting voice in the entire leadership all the way through to the board, so even though it was a challenging process, it was a very positive experience."

Do you feel there is some form of risk in being open and transparent about your position on tax, your uncertain tax positions and your tax contribution?

"We knew that by voluntarily putting out more information than we are compelled to do, it will raise more questions, but we wanted to start the conversation that must continue. We are comfortable that our internal policies and procedures are sufficient to manage our risk and we have the full support of our leadership. We celebrate this milestone."





How do you go about linking your approach to tax with the organisation's sustainability strategy? In fact, do you view tax as an environmental, social and governance (ESG) consideration?

"The short answer is – absolutely! We aligned our tax report closely with our purpose and strategy, as well as our support for the United Nations agenda on sustainable development to which we are completely aligned."

Are you efficiently linked or engaged with your sustainability team and investor relations team on tax disclosures and greater transparency around tax?

"When Casper and I put out the message that we wanted to voluntarily publish more detail on our tax disclosure, particularly our tax contributions, we worked closely with our investor relations team and the Head of Governance and Responsible Business. In fact, when we presented the final report to the Old Mutual audit committee, it was very well received as part of the greater integrated reporting suite of Old Mutual."

You noted in the report that "We encourage debate and are committed to leading the conversation on tax transparency." In your view, what should this debate and conversations be focussed on?

"We realise the accountability that comes with being one of the largest taxpayers in every country in which we operate on the continent of Africa and so for that reason we believe it is necessary to start the conversation. It is about the behaviours that global conglomerates like Old Mutual should be demonstrating, making meaningful statements so that we can build trust across society."

Do you think the trend of becoming more transparent in the tax landscape will become more evident on the African continent in the near future?

"Absolutely. I think what's also driving it – and the commissioner for SARS Edward Kieswetter mentioned it in one of his presentations recently – is the automatic exchange of information between revenue authorities and common reporting standards in general. The Pandora and Paradise Papers and the like are compelling companies to be transparent about how they operate, where they operate, what they do, what business practices they abide by, what they stand for and the human beings that define this. Is there alignment on values of the organisation and the people that run it? This is not just a trend, it is an imperative."

Looking back, what value have you experienced from your efforts to improve your voluntary reporting on tax? How do you make this report 'work' for you?

"We proudly shared the report with our stakeholders, for example, the Large Business Centre of the South African Revenue Service. This is all part of how we see ourselves cooperating with revenue authorities on the continent to improve the relationship through trust and transparency."

The global pandemic heightened awareness of how interconnected we all are, how rapidly external shocks can work through the global economy, and how central trust and transparency are to the economy's operation. How did this influence your tax function and its ability to operate within the parameters of your tax principles and commitments as communicated in your Tax Transparency Report.

"We were so mindful of the fact that 31 March was fiscal year-end just as the pandemic and lock-down started. For example, we reached out to SARS and committed to there being no delays in our tax payments. I'm very proud of the way we communicated with revenue authorities and the way our team came together to make sure that we paid all our taxes, on time. This is a classic example of us understanding our role and responsibility as a taxpayer and how we build trust."

Finally, where to from here? What can we expect from Old Mutual's 2021 Tax Transparency report?

"We will definitely revisit the content of our report in a meaningful and thoughtful way to consider what could go into it again and what has become more relevant. 2021 will be the year of consolidation of information and the narrative around the taxes we pay."



The PwC Tax Transparency Framework



Transparency for whom and for what purpose

The PwC Tax Transparency Framework (the Framework) is intended to guide companies in developing a tax transparency strategy that is fit for purpose. The Framework does not necessarily lead to more disclosure on tax matters but is intended to help companies make an informed decision on 'transparency for whom and for what purpose'.

Applying the Framework relies on the inclusion of narrative and contextual information. It is only when tax information is set alongside the stakeholder concerns related to tax that this information takes on real meaning and engagement that is fit for purpose and can be developed.

Framework criteria

The Framework includes 57 broadly defined tax transparency criteria that we consider to be good practice in voluntary tax reporting. In constructing and maintaining the framework, we consider global developments in tax transparency.

These criteria are grouped under the following categories:



We use the Framework to carry out an annual review of the voluntary tax reporting and transparency of the top 100 companies listed on the JSE (the study). The companies evaluated were selected based on their market capitalisation on 31 December 2020.



For the study, annual reports, corporate social responsibility reports, annual financial statements, integrated reports, tax specific reports and relevant publicly available information for the 2020 financial year were reviewed in our assessment.

Our aim is to guide companies from the potential complexity of tax transparency to practical execution. With this in mind, we closely monitor developments regarding voluntary tax transparency, mandatory tax disclosure, trends in integrated and sustainability reporting, and good practice for stakeholder engagement, both locally and globally. In this context we reconsider the criteria included in the Framework regularly to ensure that it aligns to these trends.

Our assessment methodology includes evaluating the Framework criteria on a five-point Likert scale to distinguish between different levels of quality disclosure. The lowest score on the scale indicates that no information related to the tax transparency criteria was demonstrated in any publicly available reports. Some companies demonstrate an emerging understanding of the tax transparency criteria with basic information related to the criteria provided, but the detail provided being high level, while other companies demonstrate a clear understanding of the criteria by providing a significant amount of detail thereon. The highest scores are awarded to those disclosures that demonstrate a clear understanding of the criteria and provide a significant amount of detail with a focus on demonstrating value creation through the reporting.

In this report we look back over the last 3 years of tax transparency in South Africa. We look at some of the material topics for stakeholders on tax and which forms part of the PwC transparency framework.

Tax disclosures that build public trust

"Among the leaders in tax transparency, as independently adjudicated as part of PwC's Building Public Trust initiative, there is a welcome trend towards the inclusion of a separate Tax Transparency Report as part of annual financial reporting. This trend may cause other corporate taxpayers to consider their own Tax Transparency strategy; are they doing enough?

The manner in which corporate taxpayers approach tax has an impact on the economies and societies in the countries in which they operate. The United Nations acknowledges that tax plays a vital role in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals. King IV requires boards of directors to demonstrate responsible corporate citizenship through being transparent taxpayers. The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and JSE Listing Requirements also set out guidance and requirements in relation to tax transparency. More recently, in 2019, the Global Reporting Initiative's Sustainability Reporting Standard on Tax (GRI 207) was approved by the Global Sustainability Standards Board, and the conversation around transparency in tax disclosures was further elevated. Indeed, a commitment to tax transparency has become global best practice and should be part of each group's commitment to delivering on their social contract.

Tax disclosures that build public trust are those that are communicated with proper detail and context, such that the information is meaningful to stakeholders. Such disclosures must be set out with a degree of specificity and user-friendliness that lends credibility to the groups' stated approach to tax transparency."

Tracy Johnson, Head of Taxation – University of Cape Town



Transparency by sector representation

In terms of market capitalisation, the greatest representation in the study are companies from the financial sector (22%), basic materials (21%), real estate (15%) and consumer staples (13%). There is a marked difference in the sector representation in 2020 compared to our previous report covering 2019.

Figure 1. Sector representation, 2019



Figure 2. Sector representation, 2020



Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2020



Transparency by company type

In this study we distinguish between companies with a primary listing on the JSE and those with a secondary listing on the JSE.

Our emphasis leans towards the primary-listed companies (79%) (2019: 78%) to demonstrate the progress made by South African-owned companies in their journey towards greater voluntary tax transparency. Twenty-one percent of the companies studied are companies with a primary listing on a stock exchange outside South Africa.





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2020

We also distinguish between primary-listed national and primary-listed multinational companies. National companies refer to those companies whose foreign sales are less than 50% of the total sales. Multinational companies are characterised as those whose foreign sales are more than 50% of the total sales.

Figure 4. Multinational vs national companies



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2020





Figure 5. Comparative analysis of average overall tax transparency reporting for companies included in the study for the last three consecutive years





Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019, 2020

Figure 6. To illustrate the level of disclosure by participating companies further we provide a comparative analysis of transparency per category of primary-listed national and primary-listed multinational companies for the last three consecutive years



Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

From 2018 to 2019 there was a marked improvement in the overall transparency and average transparency per category of the primary-listed national and primary-listed multinational companies, where companies with a multinational presence outperformed national companies. However even though there was a slight improvement in overall transparency, in 2020 we witnessed a decline in average transparency per category of the multinational companies in three categories, while the national companies showed an equal or slightly higher performance.





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Figure 8. Average overall score for total tax transparency per industry for the last three consecutive years



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

The average performance per sector is dependent on overall tax transparency demonstrated by all companies represented in the sector.

During the course of the last three years, the telecommunication industry consistently showed growth and on average demonstrated more transparency of its taxes than their peers in the top 100 companies on the JSE.





Average transparency per category of the PwC Framework

Next we outline the findings, trends and good practice demonstrated by participating companies per category of the Framework. This section features extracts and examples of emerging trends in tax transparency where disclosure demonstrates value creation. We also highlight the most notable developments related to the criteria within each category.

Figure 9. Distribution of average transparency per category for the last three consecutive years



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020



Context

Our review of the 2020 year-ends of the JSE Top Listed 100 companies showed that approximately 60% of companies reviewed follow, or are guided by, the GRI standards on environmental, social and governance topics. Any organisation can choose to align with the GRI. However, an organisation which follows the GRI in its sustainability reporting should also follow the tax standard if tax has been identified as a material topic by stakeholders. In essence, this means that at least 60 out of the 100 companies surveyed should consider following the approach set out in GRI 207 in respect of voluntary disclosure of tax information.

The companies participating in the 2020 study provided tax disclosure in a variety of disclosure types.

Of the 100 participants, ten companies published a standalone tax report, one company provided additional disclosure of tax in its sustainability report; one company provided additional disclosure of tax in a separate section in the integrated report; 48 companies provided tax information scattered through various sections of the integrated report; three companies only provided tax information in the annual financial statements and the balance of the participants' tax information was scattered through various reports.

Effective disclosure



Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

At least 19 companies participating in the 2020 study demonstrated a clear understanding of how to effectively provide transparency of taxes (easy to find and well communicated) compared to 14 companies in 2019 and seven companies in 2018.

Integration of disclosure



Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Furthermore, in 2020 at least 15 companies demonstrated integrated tax related disclosure with other company related disclosure (i.e. a sense of value reporting on tax disclosure and how it integrates with and relates to the business) compared to ten in 2019 and seven in 2018.



Absa incorporates tax into the value creating business model as a key outcome of social and relationship capital



Source: Absa Group Limited 2020 Integrated Report, P14

Anglo American Platinum demonstrates tax as a key element of value creation within the governance universe

Our capitals are fundamental to how we manage all aspects of our business to achieve our purpose and strategy



Source: Anglo American Platinum Limited integrated annual report 2020, P24

Standard Bank provides a sense of value reporting on tax disclosure and how it integrates with and relates to the business, incorporating tax into the value creating business model as a financial value outcome and its impact on stakeholder

Financial value created	Socioeconomic value created
	Individuals and business clients can borrow money to fulfil their current needs and future ambitions, supporting employment and inclusive economic growth in Africa.
Clients R103 bn	Depositors earn a return on the funds they place with the group, a safe haven for their money with a stable and reputable institution.
2019: R126 billion Value of Covid-19 support measures provided temporary relief to:	Transactional banking facilitates the movement of money, providing clients with convenient access to their funds. Our knowledge-based services allow our clients to benefit from our experience and track record on the continent and connects them to global pools of capital.
Cumulative client relief of R118 billion in South Africa and R11 billion in Africa Regions provided to individual and business clients.	Market access enables businesses to grow, providing a conduit for investment into Africa, helping economies monetise resources and diversify. Risk mitigation products enable financial protection and diversification through risk transfer.
 Cumulative relief of R24.8 billion for corporate clients. Paid R1.1 billion, excluding Liberty, in insurance claims. Provided R50 million in fee waivers and moratoriums. 	Strategic investments support inclusive economic activity and enable wealth creation, while also contributing to investments that drive Africa's socioeconomic development.
	Insurance, investment and advisory services enable clients to build, diversify and protect their wealth (including inter-generationally) and offer protection from loss of income due to illness. retirement and death.

Source: Standard Bank Group Annual integrated report 2020, P37

Tax strategy and risk management

Figure 10. Tax strategy and risk management: Average score per sector, 2020



In this category the best performing sector is the telecommunication sector, followed by the technology sector. The most improvement in transparency was demonstrated in the consumer staples sector, scoring 25%, up from 14% in 2019, followed by the telecommunication sector, scoring 56%, up from 34% in 2019, and the financial sector, scoring 31%, up from 21% in 2019.





There has been a significant improvement in the last 12 months in the appetite of companies to disclose their tax strategy publicly.



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

67 companies communicate their tax strategy publicly, of which 45 companies provided a significant amount of detail (this might be in the format of a separate document, or part of a code of conduct, a tax policy or similar document). This represents a 97% increase from 2019 year-ends.



Old Mutual integrates tax strategy and business strategy

Tax philosophy and strategy

We aim to maximise sustainable value by way of our commitment, in every jurisdiction in which we operate, to being a responsible taxpayer, a trusted, relevant and progressive business partner that is enabled by an agile, responsive, modern and engaged tax function.



Source: Old Mutual Tax Report 2020, P4

The governing body assumes responsibility for the tax strategy



Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Forty-two companies provided an indication that the governing body assumes responsibility for the tax strategy. This represents a slight decline from 2019. Notably, only 32 companies reported that the governing body of the company formally reviews and approves the tax strategy.

In MTN's tax report, tax risk is discussed at board / audit committee level **[^**] MTN's approach to tax

Tax governance

The MTN Group Board understands and takes accountability for all risks that potentially affect the achievement of its strategic priorities. Derived from an assurance methodology, MTN has implemented robust risk management frameworks consisting of proactively identifying and understanding the factors and events that and events that our strategic adaptive than amount them may impact our strategic priorities, then managing them through effective mitigation plans, internal controls and monitoring and reporting processes.

The way MTN Group manages its tax affairs is directly relevant to its shareholders and other internal and external stakeholders. Considering an increasingly complex tax legislation environment, multiple regulatory requirements, legislation environment, multiple regulatory requirements, and the focus of revenue authorities in protecting their tax revenues through the tightening of rules, increased enforcement and improvement of their approach to tax collection, there is an increased focus on tax risk and controls that will mitigate tax risk to an acceptable level.

To this end, the MTN Group has developed a systematic to this end, the first choice has abligations and that risk considering that tax obligations and the associated risks are managed and monitored by many different personnel, business functions, systems and processes within the

Principles governing MTN's approach to tax

- MTN Group has agreed the following tax guiding principles that support its approach to tax: It is paramount to the MTN Group that its tax affairs are managed in such a manner so as not to cause a detrimental effect on the reputation or brand of the MTN Group. Accordingly, the commitment of the MTN Group is to act responsibly and in an accurate, Group is Uroup is to act responsibly and in an accurate, transparent and timely manner in respect of its tax affairs by fulfilling all compliance, disclosure and reporting obligations, in accordance with the prevailing tax laws in all jurisdictions in which it operates. The MTN Group seeks to create and manage shareholder value by undertaking legitimate and responsible tax
- planning within the tax laws and regulations of the panning within the tax laws and regulations of the countries in which MTN Group operates. In this regard, the MTN Group acknowledges that its tax contribution in the jurisdictions in which it operates is significant and manages such obligations in a proactive and forward looking manner and in accordance with the prevailing located the second se legislation.
- MTN is committed to transparent and constructive relationships with revenue authorities. These are based on open and honest communication. The need to foster
- on open and honest communication. The need to foster strong relationships with revenue authorities is critical to ensure the management of tax risk. The Group commits to ensure there is the necessary resource capacity and capability to manage its tax affairs in an efficient and effective manner, including investing in tax knowledge and training of tax resources
- Investing in tax knowledge and fraining of tax resources to ensure they have the requisite skills and knowledge. Tax is integrated into all business processes supported by adequate and robust controls, clear lines of communication, defined roles and responsibilities and financial systems that are adequately configured for specific tax requirements and controls.

Tax risk management

One of the fundamental pillars of MTN's approach to tax is a tax risk management framework aimed at ensuring that tax risks are properly identified, prioritised and managed in accordance with MTN Group's integrated risk management process. The Group Board and Group Audit Committee provide oversight over the tax risk management framework, corridoring the probability financial fi considering the potential financial, legal, business and reputational risk of failing to detect and manage tax risks eously.

€

[←]

Regular and transparent tax reporting is embedded within the governance structures of the Group, including the Group Audit Committee, Executive Committee and the Group Board.

Tax risk reporting is achieved through the tax risk management programme. Reporting is done quarterly to in-country and the Group Board of Directors and Audit Committee.

This process ensures that all tax risks across the countries This process ensures find an kness across the countries within which MTN operates are identified, measured, controlled and monitored within the tax risk tolerance levels and managed at the highest governance levels within the Group.

	Group Board
orting	Group Audit Committee
nent rep	Group Exco Group enterprise risk management
Tax risk management reporting	Group tax
Tax rish	Opco board Opco risk and audit committee Opco enterprise risk management Opco tax department

For details on our approach to risk refer to page 33 of the 2020 MTN Group Integrated Report. Our tax risk appetite is very low. We believe all taxes justifiably due must be paid.

Uncertain tax positions

The Group operates in numerous tax jurisdictions and the Group's interpretation and application of the various tax rules applied in direct and indirect tax filings may result in disputes between the Group and the relevant tax authority. Tax legislation is often subject to interpretation, particularly in the absence of established case law, and as such, create areas of uncertainty on which management is required to nake judgements.

Source: MTN Group Limited Tax report for the year ended 31 December 2020, P6



AngloGold Ashanti indicates tax as part of the governance structure and board / audit committee responsibility



Source: AGA IR20, P34

Tax governance and strategy

The committee also approved the Group's tax strategy and tax management policy, which together, set out the Group's approach to tax in areas such as tax efficiency, tax risk management and tax governance and oversight.

The committee received and reviewed detailed quarterly reports from the Interim Chief Financial Officer and Vice President: Global Taxation, jointly, on the Group's tax position including uncertain tax positions, effective tax rates, tax provisions, recoverability of tax receivables, status of the Group's tax compliance globally and relevant global fiscal developments impacting the Group.

Source: AGA IR20, P34

Old Mutual demonstrates governance of tax through oversight









Sustainable tax strategy



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Thirty-one companies indicated a link between their tax strategy and the business and sustainable development strategies of the organisation and the broader needs of society, an increase of 29% from 2019. But only 13 companies demonstrated the value creation link between the organisations' tax strategy and its sustainability strategies.



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Twenty-six companies provided some form of disclosure of their position on aggressive tax strategies. This represents a 86% increase from 2019 where 14 companies made mention thereof. In 2020 only ten companies provided their disclosure on this topic in significant detail, which is probably an indication that companies are still hesitant to provide detailed narratives on their position in this context.





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

Tax havens were discussed by 19 companies in 2020, a 36% increase from 2019, albeit only 11 provided detailed disclosure on the topic.

Tax havens have been an area of intense scrutiny over the years, attracting attention from various stakeholders. We expect more companies to voluntarily disclose a narrative around why they have operations in low tax jurisdictions, and additional detailed data to support these explanations, including details around the number of subsidiaries they have operating in these places and why they are there.

Glencore explains its presence in what would be termed neutral or tax haven jurisdictions

'Tax havens'

Although there is no universally applied definition of the term 'tax haven', it is generally understood to refer to a jurisdiction that imposes little or no tax on income or profits. In recent years, governments, the media and the public at large have raised legitimate questions in connection with the alleged diversion of business profits by multinational enterprises into tax havens mainly in order to avoid paying local taxes.

We do not undertake any such activity. Both our Group tax policies and our adherence to the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines forbid the allocation of profit to jurisdictions that do not provide value-adding activities and do not have any real commercial substance.

Nevertheless, we continue to make use of companies incorporated in what would be termed tax neutral or tax haven jurisdictions. Where that occurs, it is always for a specific purpose and the companies used can be referred to as special purpose vehicles (SPVs). Clencore primarily uses SPVs for two broad purposes:

 As intermediate holding companies (to hold single investments, groups of similar investments or joint venture investments for accounting, administrative, governance or legal convenience).

 As parties to a legal contract with a non-group member where it is necessary that the SPV has no other function. Our continued use of the SPV is to serve a commercial or administrative purpose, has no tax motivation and is fiscally transparent, ie it generates neither a tax saving nor expense. For this reason, when we need to establish an SPV, it is often in a tax-neutral jurisdiction, as tax in these cases is an irrelevance. Examples in the Group include:

• We run many of our investments in African oil production as local branches of Bermudanincorporated companies that are themselves owned by Bermudan SPVs. The branches are fully liable to taxation in their host countries and the repatriation of profit is liable to such withholding taxes that may exist. The receipt of dividend income by the holding SPVs is not taxable in Bermuda but nor would it be if they were established in 'non-haven' jurisdictions such as Australia, Switzerland or the United Kingdom. The benefits of such offshore-incorporation derive from reduced Group audit expense and

mitigation of country political risk. Our interest in the Colombian coal producer Cerrejón, a three-way joint venture between Glencore, BHP Ltd and Anglo American plc, is held through a Bermudian entity that is tax resident in the UK, while our co-shareholders hold their interests through EU holding SPVs. All of them are exempt from dividend taxation, although the two EU-country jurisdictions are not typically considered to be tax haven jurisdictions.

Source: Glencore Payments to Governments Report 2020, P5

It is market practice for streaming contracts (where future group production of precious or base metals is pre-sold to an offtaker) to be performed by a SPV incorporated in a tax neutral jurisdiction. Where this occurs, the Group ensures that any profit or loss arising in respect of the transaction is realised in Switzerland, where the group has its head office and major trading presence, via a total return swap contract between the SPV, which is generally tax resident in Switzerland, and Glencore International AG.

We have undertaken a review of all entities established in 'tax haven' jurisdictions with the intention of consolidating or eliminating as many as possible. Where it is not possible to do this, these entities usually adopt tax residence in a non-tax haven jurisdiction where the Group can establish enhanced local substance.

As a result of this review, we have removed from our group structure many tax haven-incorporated companies, or established their tax residence in Switzerland, the UK or another non-tax haven jurisdiction. This review continues to be a focus during 2021.


Transfer pricing



Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

The price at which companies carry out intra-group transactions or, transfer pricing is still an area where few are providing only a brief statement to acknowledge their conformity with OECD principles. Transfer pricing was mentioned by 27 companies in 2020, a decline of 1% from 2019.

Less than half of these companies expand on these narratives to provide additional voluntary information about their business model and why transfer pricing is an important element of their operations.

When it comes to discussions of global changes and developments and their impact on the company's tax position, MTN discusses topical issues such as the impact of COVID 19 and the impact of the work around Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). MTN provides insight into its profitability compared to its peers in the telecommunications industry

MTN provides information on an assessment of whether the profits realised by the MTN opcos:

- · align with the functions, risks and the assets of those group companies (as a stress test for the BEPS project)
- are realised in-country (as a stress test of the proposals in the unified • approach).

In the wake of the pandemic, a 'new normal' has been established and we expect that the tax landscape will be adapted to address this new normal. MTN Group will continue to monitor and manage the tax risks arising.

The work around Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) The work around Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) continues with the aim to implement action plans to assist countries in tackling tax avoidance, improve international tax rules and dispute resolution. In 2019, the OECD Secretariat proposals pillar one (reallocation of taxing rights in a digitalised economy) and pillar two (introducing global minimum tax to address tax issues arising from BEPS) were adopted by the Inclusive Framework of the OECD.

The efforts to reach a consensus on the Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 proposals were stalled due to the pandemic but the 139 members of the BEPS Inclusive Framework have committed to address the remaining issues with the view to reach a conclusion by mid-2021.

MTN Group operates a decentralised model meaning that almost all of MTN's Group's profitability is realised by the in-country operating companies (opcos) in their respective jurisdictions. MTN Group began an exercise in 2018 to perform the value chain analysis for the Group, which is a corroborative economic analysis (over a four-year period) to evaluates the Group's performance relative to its peers, and how value (i.e. EBITDA) manifests between: 0. Cerva companies und and and and and and and and and and others. a) Group companies who do not engage with customers.b) The MTN opcos who engage with customers.

c) Consequently, the Group sought to assess whether the profits realised by the MTN opcos:
a) Aligns with the functions, risks and the assets of those group companies (as a stress test for the BEPS project).
b) Is realised in-country (as a stress test of the proposals in the Unified approach).

The outcome of the analysis shows that in the financial The ourcome of the analysis shows that in the financial year ended 31 December 2019, approximately 98,66% (2018: 97,11%) of profits were realised and taxed in the market jurisdiction where the MTN opcos operate. This is in line with the expectations that the relative contributions made by each entity to the overall business are realised at the market jurisdiction level.

Source: MTN Group Limited Tax report for the year ended 31 December 2020, P5



Graph B below shows the Group EBITDA margins over the four-year period as compared to its peers (%)





Disclosure of uncertain tax positions

The number of organisations that disclosed the circumstances surrounding uncertain tax positions or tax controversy exposure decreased by 29% to 22, from 31 in 2019.

Only ten companies participating in this study provided detailed information regarding the amount (quantitative) set aside for uncertain tax positions (UTP's), or where the company is not required to disclose UTP's, the amount of its tax controversy exposures and the potential impact on stakeholders. Some companies provided a description of tax positions that have not been agreed with the relevant revenue authorities at the end of the time period reported. Information such as the nature of the disagreement and the reasons for any change in tax positions that occurred during the time period, where relevant, are provided.

Tax policy



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

In 2020, 23 companies provided some information around their efforts to be involved in tax policy discussions, advocacy or lobbying activities within their industry and the wider tax impact of tax reform on their organisations and payments to the government. This represents an increase of 53%. Only nine companies provided this type of disclosure in a detailed narrative.



Old Mutual indicates its commitment to sustainable value creation for all stakeholders as well as a commitment to build trust through strong relationships, governed by the Group's stakeholder relations policy

Our first commitment is to ш creating sustainable value for all our stakeholders. Knowing our Z stakeholders and understanding their needs are important to us as it forms the basis of all our relationships. Wherever there is shared value, there is lasting commitment to building and growing together.

Our second commitment is to adhere to strong corporate governance principles and to build trust with our stakeholders through maintaining good relationships. Our relationships with revenue authorities in countries in which we operate are governed by the Group's formal Stakeholder Relations policy. The policy ensures that the standards by which we operate across all our markets are in line with the King IV Code United Nations Global Compact and United Nations Global Reporting Initiative Standards (GRI) for transparency.





projects to improve how we share tax information and introduce technology to enable the management of our customer's tax affairs and gueries in response to their needs.

The Group was founded on sustaining the prosperity of the communities we serve. The economic impact of our tax contributions to the countries in which we operate support corporate social responsibility and is explained in more detail in the Old Mutual Limited 2020 Responsible Business Impact Report.

We recognise that sustained economic growth demands a fair, transparent and an effective tax environment to secure mutually positive futures. We seek to maintain co-operative and proactive relationships with local revenue authorities by responding to regulatory proposals and requests for information timeously and to support the local revenue authorities to achieve their mandates to modernise the tax compliance process.

The Group attracts and grows tax expertise by truly understanding the aspirations of our people, investing in their personal development, fairly remunerating and creating a culture of respect and trust. We aim to create rewarding career paths with clear personal growth plans in Group Tax. Our short to medium-term focus on strategic automation and modernisation is delivering on our goal of more engaged tax resources applied to intellectually stimulating and value-creating activities. ato Our Tax Transparency Report is our response to placing more relevant information in the hands of our investo community

One example amongst many others is the issuing of provisional tax statements (IRP6) for ease of completion of customer's tax returns

In addition to the Group-wide initiatives, the Group Tax Team supported the following charities: 100mile charity walk

 Animal shelter in our community in Cape Town Orphanage in the community in Cape Town

• Orphanage in the community in cape form We maintain solid relationships with the in-country tax revenue authorities in the jurisdictions in which we operate across the African continent. One of the highlights of our strategic engagement with the South African Revenue Service included a pilot programme resulting in closer integration of data exchange to improve the quality of data submissions for the industry. We provided input into the development of tax legislation using the various for an on-which we are represented. fora on which we are represented.

Some of the highlights include:

20 Enga

- Launching the Chartered Accountants Community CA(Libre) to foster a sense of 'belonging'
 Bursaries to fund the professional development and personal growth of our employees
- Conducting employee 'pulse' surveys to be more responsive to employee needs

Source: Old Mutual Tax Report 2020, P7

Tax numbers and performance

Figure 11. Tax numbers and performance: Average score per sector, 2020





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2020

Notably, the voluntary disclosure of key financial indicators, and additional information on effective tax rate versus cash tax rate, tax incentives and the tax rate reconciliation remain relatively low.

Financial information that may provide the reader with an indication of an organisation's performance and intragroup activities for each jurisdiction in which it operates can include:

- Revenues by third-party sales.
- Intra-group transactions of the tax jurisdiction with other tax jurisdictions.
- Profit/loss before tax.
- Tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
- Corporate tax paid on a cash basis.
- Corporate tax accrued on profit/loss.
- Reasons for the difference between corporate tax accrued on profit/loss and the tax due if the statutory tax rate is applied to profit/loss before tax.
- Significant tax incentives.

In 2020 only 16 companies provided detailed information on these financial indicators, linked to value creation.





Main drivers for ETR and reasons for variances between subsequent years



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

A discussion of how the ETR is likely to perform in the future



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

As in previous years, more than half of the companies mention the main drivers for their effective tax rate (ETR) and the reasons for variances between subsequent years. This represents a 6% increase from 2019. In 2020 only 30 companies provided this information with detailed supporting narrative. Only two companies discuss how the ETR is likely to perform in future.



Rate reconciliation

As in previous years, most companies provide a clear and understandable tax rate reconciliation. However, only half provide additional or supporting narrative to explain line items in the tax rate reconciliation. Very few companies provide a breakdown of larger items in the tax rate reconciliation.

The reasons for the difference between statutory and effective tax rate might be a complex combination of legislative adjustments to the taxpayers. IFRS accounting standards require companies to explain the relationship between tax expense (benefit) and accounting profit, but limited guidance is given on the format of that reconciliation.

We have identified some areas of the statutory to effective rate reconciliation where there may be scope for companies to develop their thinking and explain their tax affairs in a non-technical way, so that stakeholders can understand more easily. Our comments are based on our annual building public trust for tax transparency studies as well as similar studies conducted by our PwC member firms⁴. Of course, the drivers of the effective rate will differ and it would not be reasonable or appropriate for all companies to adopt the same format.

- Some companies exclude the impact of joint ventures and associates from profit before tax in the reconciliation table so that this doesn't become a reconciling item. Under IFRS, the company includes its share of post-tax profits and losses from joint venture and associates in the group profit before tax. There is no associated tax charge, so this is a reconciling item, unless removed from the profit at the outset.
- Companies use a weighted statutory rate to help understand the impact of operations overseas. While many companies operate in a single territory, an increasing number operate in more than one country, but the reconciliation is to the statutory tax rate in the head-office territory. A weighted rate, using the statutory rights in all countries of operation, helps the reader to understand the impact of operating internationally. It can be difficult to calculate if, for example, there are losses or amortisation in particular countries.

- Some companies provide detailed narrative to describe items reconciling the statutory and effective rate. There is no standard narrative. Companies can consider to separately identify the tax impact of nonrecurring items. Although the difference between the statutory and effective rate varies for several reasons, we found that it was possible to categorise these into broad headings such as:
 - Non-taxable income
 - Change in tax rate
 - Uncertain tax provision adjustments
 - Non-deductible expenses
 - Impact of foreign operations
 - Tax losses
 - Tax incentives
 - Other

Allocating bespoke descriptions of reconciling items to broad headings might help stakeholders to better understand the nature of reconciling items and whether they are likely to be recurring, or one-off items. While we appreciate that a standard format will not work for everyone, consistent headings, supported by bespoke descriptions, could provide clarity. In addition, we found examples of companies providing separate narrative disclosure of significant items in their reconciliation and linking material items to other areas of the annual report, which assists with understanding.

• Some companies explain the relationship between the tax charge and cash tax paid more clearly by providing a reconciliation of the two numbers. This enables the company to explain how the tax charge in the financial statements relates to the actual cash tax paid to the authorities.



4 https://www.pwc.co.uk/tax/assets/pdf/shaping-tax-transparency-debate-2019-explaining-tax.pdf

MTN provides a clear and understandable effective tax rate reconciliation with supporting narrative to explain line items in the tax rate reconciliation. Larger items in the tax rate reconciliation are fully explained, and reconciling items in the tax rate reconciliation are split into categories that enhance the usefulness of the information.

Group effective tax rate	(GETR) reco	nciliations		Normalised group effec	tive tax rate	e reconciliat	ion
Consolidated Group	2020 %	2019 %	Comment		2020 %	Restated 2019 %	Comment
MTN Group	32,45	38,9515	This is GETR as reported on the Annual Financial Statements. Please refer below for the breakdown and comments.	Normalised Group effective	36,97	40,89	This is GETR as reported on the Annual Financial Statement
MTN Group	36,97		This is normalised GETR. Please refer below for the breakdown.	hax rate:10 Main reconciling items:			Please refer below for the breakdown and comments.
Reported Group effectiv	e tax rate re	conciliation		Other	5,0220	0,9421	This is normalised GETR. Please refer below for the breakdown.
	2020	2019	Comment	Sudan non-deductible	(4,99)	(2,42)	Turnover tax applied with result that bulk of operational
Reported Group effective tax rate Main reconciling items:	% 32,45		Lower rate in 2020 mainly due to the non-taxable gain from the sale of Ghana and Uganda Tower InterCo BV.	expenses			expenses and loss not allowable for tax purposes, ie a tax al 7% of ('urnover and other income) less: (interconnect, roaming and transmission costs, and commission and discounts). Higher impact in CETR because of higher expens in 2020 (P4,55bn gross amount and R1,46bn in 2019).
Other	4,4216	0,6817		Non-taxable gain from sale	-	-	Since this was a once-off transaction, we have removed it fo
Sudan non-deductible expenses	(4,38)		Turnover tax applied with result that bulk of operational expenses and loss not allowable for tax purposes, ie a tax at 7% of (turnover and other income) less: (interconnect, roaming and transmission costs, and commission and	of Ghana and Uganda Tower InterCo BV/(from Jumia dilution and sale of Amadeus and TravelStart)			normalisation of GETR.
		1.05	discounts). Higher impact in GETR because of higher expense in 2020 (R4,55bn gross amount and R1,46bn in 2019).	Impairment loss on remeasurement of non- current assets held for sale	-	-	Since this was a once-off transaction, we have removed it for normalisation of GETR.
Non-taxable gain from sale of Ghana and Uganda Tower InterCo BV/(from Jumia	5,90	1,85	In 2020 this related to a gain on sale of Ghana and Uganda Tower InterCo BV (2019 this related to a gain realised on dilution of Jumia).	Impairment of goodwill and investment in joint ventures	-	-	Since this was a once-off transaction, we have removed it for normalisation of GETR.
dilution and sale of Amadeus and TravelStart)				Nigeria regulatory fine and related expenses	-	-	Since this was a once-off transaction, we have removed it for normalisation of GETR.
Nigeria regulatory fine and related expenses	-		This item includes unwinding interest on the Nigeria fine liability and the amortisation of fees related to the listing of MTN Nigeria. Lower impact to GETR due to lower Nigeria fine	Foreign income and withholding taxes	(5,56)	(6,27)	Higher withholding tax value. In 2020 (R1,42bn) compared to 2019 (R1,06bn).
			unvinding expenses in 2020 (Rnil) compared to 2019 (R0,20bn).	Assessed loss and other timing differences on which deferred tax credit was not	(2,18)	(3,05)	This relates to unrecognised deferred tax credits on assess losses and other timing differences mainly in Business Solutions Group, South Sudan, Guinea-Conakry, Liberia.
Impairment loss on remeasurement of non- current assets held for sale	(1,45)	-		recognised			Netherlands and Smartvillage due to not meeting requirements of IAS 12 for recognition of a deferred tax ass
Foreign income and	(4,89)	(5,97)	Higher withholding tax value in 2020 (R1,42bn) compared to	Disallowed interest expenses	(1,26)22	(2,09)	
withholding taxes Impairment of goodwill and	(7. 0.0)		2019 (R1,06bn).				erted tax by adjusted Group profit before tax
investment in joint ventures	(1,03)	-		²⁰ This mainly consists of: Share of loss (+0,88%); foreign tax rate adjustment	es from MTN joint v nt to RSA standard	entures and associ rate (+6,25%); Nige	ates (+1,25%), Nigeria investment allowances relief/Cameroon reinvestment allowar ria education tax (-1,54%); Ghana special levy (-5%) of IFRS PBT (-1,10%); other no
Assessed loss and other timing differences on which deferred tax credit was not recognised	(1,91)	(2,91)	This relates to unrecognised deferred tax credits on assessed losses and other timing differences mainly in Business Solutions Group, South Sudan, Cuinea-Conakry, Liberia, Netherlands and Smartvillage due to not meeting requirements of IAS 12 for recognition of a deferred tax asset.	(-0,35%); additional minimum tax (ms ²¹ This mainly consists of: Share of loss (+1,39%); foreign tax rate adjustmer deductible expenses (-1,90%); sociol additional minimum tax (mainly from	ainly from Cameroo ses from MTN joint v at to RSA standard on 9D imputation (r Cameroon, Liberia	n, Liberia, Guinea-E entures and associ rate (+4,63%); Nige et income of contro , Guinea-Bissau, Sy	lied foreign companies) (-0.51%); prior year deferred and current tax audit adjustm lissous, syria and culones-Consiry (-0.27%) and other miscellaneous (-0.26%). Jotas (-0.17%): Nigeria investment allowances relief/Cameroon relevestment allowan to adacation tax (-2.12%). (Chana guodi leve) (-5%) (-0.16%) and (-1.43%). and a culotina (-2.12%). (Chana guodi leve) (-5%) (-0.16%) (-0.16%) tria and culoresConskry (-1.21%) and other miscellaneous (-1.45%). adalinge (Propertancy) Limited and MYM Mauritus Limited (two of the Croup's had
Disallowed interest expenses	(1,11)10	(1,99)	requirements of this 12 for recognition of a deterred tax dister.	companies).			
Standard effective tax rate	28,00	28,00					
Restated for change in accounting pp This mainly consists of: Share of losses (+0,778); forcing har rate adjustment deductible expenses (-1,458); section (-0,308); additional minimum tax (ma "This mainly consists of: Share of losses (+1,328); forcing in tax rate adjustment deductible expenses (-1,8186); section additional minimum tax (mainly fram "This mainly relates to non-deductible companies)	es from MTN joint ve to RSA standard ro 9D imputation (net inly from Cameroon, is from MTN joint ve to RSA standard ro 9D imputation (ne Cameroon, Liberla, (ntures and associat the (+6,20%); Nigeria income of controlle , Liberia, Guinea-Bis ntures and associat the (+4,41%); Nigeria t income of controll Guinea-Bissau, Syric	Continuous improvemer and transparency continued educed educed		nance	9	

	2020 GETR ²⁴ %	corporate income tax rates ²⁵ %	2019 GETR ²⁶ %	corporate income tax rates %
South Africa23	35,90	28,00	30,54	28,00
Nigeria	31,50	30,00	30,31	30,00
Ghana	29,30	25,00	30,14	25,00
Uganda	30,01	30,00	29,00	30,00
Rwanda	35,20	30,00	44,93	30,00
Zambia	41,46	40,00	36,01	40,00
South Sudan	_27	20,00	-	20,00
Botswana (joint venture)	23,48	22,00	35,26	22,00
eSwatini (joint venture)	29,09	30,00	29,67	30,00
Cameroon	108,8028	33,00	(32,82)	33,00
Côte d'Ivoire	24,80	30,00	21,25	30,00
Benin	99,4329	30,00	42,15	30,00
Guinea-Conakry	(0,11)20	35,00	(7,31)	35,00
Congo-Brazzaville	23,62	22,5	26,15	22,5
Liberia	(10,22)31	25,00	(4,60)	25,00
Guinea-Bissau	(19,95)32	25,00	(29,62)	25,00
Iran (joint venture)	(25,02)23	25,00	27,15	25,00
Syria	1,8234	14,00	12,27	14,00
Sudan	37,05	7,00	39,38	7,00
Yemen	41,07	50,00	74,49	50,00
Afghanistan	15,97	20,00	20,19	20,00
 This is NH South Artice ages Droug of companies. This is not all cost and a Carl correctly convertide print features tare sub- transes and all based on ZAR correctly convertide print features tare and the South South Convertiget of the South So	fictions where our opcose income tax expenses and diosses and other tempo- untry and higher non-dec um tax. The deferred tax c ical Reporting Standards r deferred tax credit on as ig Standards not being m m tax. The deferred tax c ical Reporting Standards r	perate. They are in line i i are for the Group in th wary differences was n fuctible expenses. credit on assessed losse tob being met. sessed losses and othe welt on assessed losse tob being met.	with their in-country ind e applicable countries. It recognised due to re is and other temporary r temporary difference	quirements of IAS 12 differences was not s was not recognised

Source: MTN Group Limited Tax report for the year ended 31 December 2020, P11 – 13

Cash tax

Sixty-five companies make mention of their cash taxes paid / cash tax rate in 2020 of which 40 provide a detailed breakdown. Only three companies provide a detailed explanation of the difference between their cash tax rate /cash tax paid and their ETR / corporate tax paid and one company discussed how the cash tax rate is likely to perform in the future.

> Cash tax reconciliation is a voluntary disclosure tax charge disclosed in the financial statements and the corporate tax paid by the company. This disclosure is less common, but it is provided by companies seeking to explain and clarify to stakeholder groups how the tax charge in accounts relates to the actual cash tax paid to the authorities.



Total tax contribution and wider impact

Figure 12. Total tax contribution and wider impact: Average score per sector, 2020



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2020

Often broken down geographically by type of tax and distinguishing between taxes borne and collected, companies that are interested in emphasising and showcasing the wider contributions they make to society demonstrate more than simply focusing on the corporate tax they pay on profits. This voluntary disclosure of a company's total tax contribution is more prevalent in the telecommunications and the basic materials sectors.

Country-by-country reporting is the reporting of financial, economic and tax related information for each jurisdiction in which the organisation operates. Tax jurisdictions are considered to be those where the entities included in the companies' audited consolidated financial statements are resident for tax purposes. These entities include permanent establishments and dormant entities. Usually, this information is reported at the level of tax jurisdictions and not at the level of the individual entity.

Other financial and tax related information include number of employees, total in-country employee remuneration, taxes withheld and paid on behalf of employees in-country, revenues, profit/loss before tax, and tangible assets other than cash and cash equivalents. This information provides an indicator of the organisation's scale of activity within a tax jurisdiction and can inform assessment about the level of taxes being paid in the jurisdiction. For these purposes, it is beneficial if the company provides a general description of the primary activities in a tax jurisdiction.

In 2020 the majority of companies included information on the nature of their operations by jurisdictions (for all jurisdictions in which a company operates). However, only 16 companies provided this information in the context of their tax contributions. Similarly, more than half of the companies disclosed other financial and tax related information, but only seven companies provided this information in the context of their tax obligations.



Total taxes withheld refer to taxes which are collected on behalf of governments, because of the economic activity generated by the business.





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

There was little movement in 2020 of organisations that disclosed taxes paid on a country-by-country or regional basis. Some companies provided comparisons of their total economic contributions per year and explanations for variances, but only 12 companies offered this information at a granular level. There was a significant decline in the number of companies that provide a breakdown of the different types of taxes they pay.

Forty companies provided some information on the types of taxes they pay in 2020, down from 61 companies in 2019 and only 12 companies provided a detailed breakdown to explain the base of their tax contributions by tax type.



Vodacom provides a detailed breakdown of country-by-country tax and non-financial information, with comparisons to previous years



Source: Vodacom Tax Transparency Report for the year ended 2020, P18-P23, P26, P29

Glencore's interactive website, video demonstrating commitments, as well as the broader socio-economic contribution and Payments to Governments Report 2020 highlights the organisations payments to governments and contribution to the economy



Economic contributi	on					
Amounts in US\$ '000 Country	Production Entitlements	Taxes on Income ²	Royalties	Fees	Infrastructure	
Argentina ⁶		976				
Australia		179,318	500,083	28,890	1,654	
Bolivia		619	5,684			
Cameroon	18,312	648				
Canada		39,117		1,423		
Chad	5,915		8,191	2,563		
Chile		238,520		969		
Colombia		37,644	55,563	341	2,561	
Democratic Republic of Congo		40,694	116,332	157	97,828	
Equatorial Guinea	22,690	9,891	10,700	299		
Kazakhstan		272,659	93,195			
Peru		205,912	58,541	6,758		
South Africa		62,049	15,218			
Tanzania						

Our payments to governments¹

The information below has been prepared in the manner outlined in the About this report section on page 39

Local employment and skills	Local procurement and	Societal contribution	Payments to governments
development	enterprise development		and tax transparency
We protrictle employing people from the region close to our assets. We provide finalies with healthoods at our assets and indirect at our assets and indirect pulping both, gate of our pulping both, gate of our operating countries.	Where possible, we use local supplies pupplies bacated in the same country is the asset, and a support and the second support support of the second support bacalineses to drive local conormic divergitation and to help our hast governments of our post post- end the countries usplies and contractors located in the countries where we are levelopment and economic diversification investments.	Dur community development oprogrammes induce dependency on our assess, mechange side frainea and mechange side frainea and mechanism and assess we install infrastructure, such and underdeveloped areas, we install infrastructure, such and underdeveloped areas, we install infrastructure, such and as appropriate with facal communities. In 2020, we spent SIS million on goldati pandemic and nearly short included SIB million on global pandemic and nearly SID million on eterpation diversification of local enterpreneus.	We pay all relevant taxes, regulates and other levies in amounts determined by the egilation of relevant nationar legilation of relevant nationar with the redistribution and reinvestment of these payments. In 2000, currents that redistribution and reinvestment of these payments. In 2000, currents and adules we pay in our operating courties for our mentioned and industrial activities.

wwe.contribute

Local employment and skills	Local procurement and	Societal contribution	Payments to governments
development	enterprise development		and tax transparency
We piorlise employing people from the regiona close to our assets. We provide finalise with heimodal and the sense of the sense at our assets and indirect and our use of local supplers. and our use of local supplers workforce was locate to our operating countries.	Where possible, we use locate supplies together located in the same coupont in the same, and support to the same, and support businesses to drive local economic devertication and to help our host governments of our possible procurement objectives. During 200, 80% of our global procurement of our global procurement separation sampling and compared the supplies and compared the acomption development and economic development and economic development accomption.	Dur community development oprogrammes relatione and dependency on our assets, encourage self-intense and encourage self-intense and regional growth. In remote and underdeveloped areas, we install infrastructure, such and electrolicy, which is often altared a appropriate with local community development. which included \$10 million on golda ip molenne and nearly golda ip molenne and nearly golda ip molenne and nearly golda ip molenne and nearly development and commit development and commit development and economic diversification of local entrepreneus.	We pay all relevant taxes, nyalitisa and other levies in amounts determined by the egislation of relevant nationa egislation of relevant national with the redistribution and reinvestment of these gyments in good contents totalled USSS & billion, effecting the taxes, royalities and dutes we pay in our manetering and industrial activities.

	Zarriula			10,402	1,214	
The reports are not corrected for rounding. Taxes on income include income taxes gial in Colombia, Buru and Chile relating to Elencore's proportionate ownership interest in joint ventures (Line Taxes and Autor public taxing in one attraction scheduler autor and	Rest of the World					
Taxe is in normal inclusion income taxes and in Colombas, Poru and Chile relating to Chennesk proportionale convertigin (mess to pairs) and evaluated (the interiment of colombas) and on the point of the colombas and colombas (the colombas) and the colombas and colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas (th	Total at 31 December 2020	46,917	1,012,759	879,910	41,555	102,0
Taxe is in normal inclusion income taxes and in Colombas, Poru and Chile relating to Chennesk proportionale convertigin (mess to pairs) and evaluated (the interiment of colombas) and on the point of the colombas and colombas (the colombas) and the colombas and colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas (the colombas) and the colombas) and the colombas (th	1 The reports are not corrected for round	ina				
Taxes and duice paid relating to non-extractive activities are considered without payroll tax. Other taxes include: wealth tax, stamp duise, transfer tax, environmental tax and other taxes according to local law. Payments not included in the 2020 Sustainability Report are primarily payments relating to Clencer's proportionate ownership interest in certain joint noted abox. These were necessarily not part of the scope of the 2020 Sustainability Report, which aligns tabit with the Cloug's statutory financial expe	2 Taxes on income include income taxes	paid in Colombia, Peru an	d Chile relating to Glencon	e's proportionate ownership	interest in joint ventures	(Cerrejón,
Payments not included in the 2020 Sustainability Report are primarily payments relating to Clencore's proportionate ownership interest in certain joint noted above. These were necessarily not part of the scope of the 2020 Sustainability Report, which aligns itself with the Group's statutory financial report.			sidered without payroll tax	Other taxes include: wealth	n tax, stamp duties, transl	fer tax.
noted above. These were necessarily not part of the scope of the 2020 Sustainability Report, which aligns itself with the Group's statutory financial report						
						ai reporting.
Disposal of Minera Alumbrera Limited in December 2020.						

mainly produces ferrovanalium and vanadium pentoxide. In Produces ferrovanalium and and competitive markets as stronger and more resilient businesses. The hubs focus on economic inclusion leading supplier of petroleum orducts in South Africa and the living around our operations through

Total EU Transparency Directive	Customs/Import/ Excise/Export tax and duties	Payroll taxes ⁶	Taxes and duties relating to non-extractive activities plus other taxes ³	Payments not included in Sustainability Report*	Total
976	303	7,255	9,387	-	17,92
709,946	540,916	166,544	444,977		1,862,383
6,303	413	5,055	8,602		20,373
18,960		14	29	(18,312)	69
40,540		38,387	174,864		253,79
16,669	1,605	377	4,308	(8,478)	14,480
239,489		3,764	39,920	(227,360)	55,813
20,821	101	2,294	34,036	9,255	66,507
255,012	116,284	45,843	6,522		423,66
43,580	188	275	1,458	(22,989)	22,512
365,854	2,744	44,682	33,676		446,957
271,211		21,754	152,538	(225,324)	220,178
77,267		4,997	1,323,700		1,405,964
		88	324		40
16,556	1,833	2,104	25,292		45,786
	-	195,833	740,623	-	936,457
 2,083,184	664,387	539,267	3,000,256	(493,208)	5,793,886

Source: Glencore Payments to Governments Report 2020, P9, P17 – 19

A breakdown of the different types of taxes





Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

In 2020, 40 companies provided a breakdown of the different types of taxes that they pay (i.e. direct taxes borne by the organisation, indirect taxes collected on behalf of the organisation or any other categorisation of types of taxes). This is down from 2019 where 61 companies provided a breakdown of the different types of taxes that they pay.

The reason for the decline is not clear. Companies should consider not only the benefit of external disclosure of this type of information, but also the value in having this information at a granular level at hand internally. This will provide insight into key financial indicators of the organisation's operations and how they align to its tax positions and payments made. Implementing efficiencies in data collection and analysis and gaining access to multiple data sources allows trend analysis and early risks detection.

There are various ways to distinguish between the different types of taxes paid by companies. One approach is to classify total tax contribution according to the 5Ps:



Since taxes have different names in different countries, we identified five tax bases under which tax is borne and collected and can be categorised – 'the 5Ps':

Profit taxes:

These include taxes on company profits that are borne (such as corporate income tax) and collected (such as withholding tax on payments to third parties).

People taxes:

Taxes on employment, both borne and collected (including income tax and social security payments).

Product taxes:

Indirect taxes on the production and consumption of goods and services, including VAT and sales tax, customs duties, insurance premium tax and alcohol and tobacco duties.

Property taxes:

Taxes on the ownership, style, transfer or occupation of property.

Planet taxes:

Taxes and duties levied on the supply, use or consumption of goods and services that are considered to be harmful to the environment, including vehicle excise duties.



Tax and the environment

The resultant impact of the effects of climate change places South Africa in a precarious situation. The warming of the earth's temperature will increase the magnitude and frequency of natural disasters such as rising sea levels, floods, droughts, tropical storms, heatwaves, wildfires and a shortage of clean water many of which are presently manifesting in South Africa. The effects of climate change will have a direct impact on the profitability of companies within sectors that South Africa's economy is highly reliant on, such as mining, agriculture and transport.

Extreme weather conditions will disrupt industry through, inter alia, damaged infrastructure, reduction in the volume of harvested crops and the working conditions that labourers will be subjected to. The impact that climate change risk poses for South Africa is heightened as the country remains vulnerable to a transition to a low-carbon economy (from an economic gain and energy perspective). With a global decline in the demand for fossil-fuel reliant products, both from a consumer and investor market, including regulatory shifts away from fossil fuels, South African companies that remain heavily reliant on fossil fuels run the major risk of becoming obsolete in the near future.

Having regard to the above, it would not only be prudent but imperative that South African companies incorporate The Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations in their operations, as this will help them be more resilient to climate-related shocks. The TCFD framework is above all about disclosing and accounting for the financial impacts of climate change on businesses, improving transparency and helping inform better investment, credit and insurance writing decisions. The recommended disclosure is around four broad themes, namely, Governance, Strategy, Risk Management and Metrics and Targets.

Regulatory shifts in South Africa aimed at supporting reporting and disclosure include the introduction of the Carbon Tax Act as well as the Climate Change Bill. Companies that do not report on their strategies and targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions face increased costs, taxes and fines. Carbon tax raises the cost of emitting greenhouse gases for companies. The intention behind the introduction of carbon tax is to encourage companies to reduce their emissions or face declining profits. Companies may come under fire for failing to report on their strategy to reduce the tax burden to shareholders, which would necessarily require reducing emissions. South Africa's proposed Climate Change Bill will require companies to submit a carbon budget to the Department of Forestry, Fisheries and the Environment. Once enacted, the Bill will force companies to reduce their emissions and to put in place a strategy for emissions reductions, based on regulations which are subject to the input of various stakeholders. Using the TCFD Recommendations, companies can voluntarily prepare for the effects of future carbon budgets and implement mitigation, adaptation, resource efficiency, pollution reduction and transition plans that are best suited for their inevitable transition.

44 | Building public trust through tax reporting - 6th edition

Anglo American Platinum discusses environmental taxes and the link to natural capital in value creation

FutureSmart Mining technologies will be a key driver in reducing our emissions. We will also increase our sourcing of renewable energy and low-carbon operational solutions, including the production and use of hydrogen. Risk impact, mitigation and tracking elements are embedded in our operating model to help us understand what we need to put in place to achieve our targets.

Our management systems, structures, governance and engagement processes ensure that climate change is considered in all our business decisions. Going forward, we will take into account a carbon price for all our forecasting. Our initiatives to reduce our carbon emissions will also reduce our exposure to evolving climate-change regulatory requirements and increases in energy costs.

Our CEO's scorecard includes performance on energy and carbon. Anglo American Platinum's general managers are financially rewarded for achieving operational-level energy-reduction targets. In future, we aim to incentivise individuals based on their team's performance against climate, energy and water targets. This will contribute to the whole workforce being incentivised to meet our GHG targets.

Further disclosure on our climate-related practices appears in our integrated annual report and in our annual submission to CDP (www.cdproject.net @). Anglo American Platinum's leadership on climate action and the transition to the new sustainable economy is recognised in being on the CDP's 'A' list based on our 2020 submission.

Understanding our climate-related risks and opportunities

Our business is exposed to a spectrum of risks from climate change, including physical, regulatory, market, cost or legal. Details are provided in our annual submission to CDP, section C2.2c (www.cdproject.net). Our principal climate-related risk is the potential impact of climate change on security of water supply for our organisation and host communities. Security of energy supply, rising energy prices and the carbon tax in South Africa are also material risks for our operations.

Our risk management approach enables us to identify and manage both risks and opportunities, helping to ensure the resilience of our portfolio. Our quantitative scenario analysis work, reviewed below, has reinforced this approach and is a key input in our strategicplanning processes. Anglo American Platinum assesses and reviews climate-change risks monthly, with a formal annual risk review.

Two key processes guide how we manage climate-change risks: the operational risk management (ORM) programme and investment development model for projects. The ORM guides operations on assessing risk at each level of activity, with tools to identify priority unwanted events and the controls we need to put in place and monitor to prevent those events. The investment development model process and evaluation criteria ensure that climate-change risks and opportunities are embedded in the investment design, including the consideration for alternative low-carbon energy sourcing and the adaptation required for extreme weather and long-term climate change.

Climate change and energy regulatory developments

In South Africa, the Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries (DEFF) and Treasury continue to make efforts to introduce the necessary regulatory and policy framework to address climate change, in line with the country's commitment to the United Nations framework convention on climate change. Over the last year, this has included enacting regulations to fully implement the carbon-tax levy and allowances; introducing greenhouse gas (GHG) reporting legislation to strengthen disclosure and monitoring protocols; climate-change mitigation and adaptation policy documents to provide a blueprint for a coordinated and integrated response by both the public and private sector; and resuming consultations on the climate change bill, which will provide the much-needed regulatory framework and legal certainty. These developments are in line with global trends and Anglo American Platinum's carbon-neutrality commitments, energyreduction targets as well as sustainability goals and objectives.

Carbon-tax liability

In South Africa, our operations are liable to pay carbon tax from the combustion of coal and other fossil fuels. The design of the tax provides for significant tax-free emissions allowances ranging from 60% to 95% for the first phase (1 June 2019 to 31 December 2022). To ease the potential adverse impacts on energy-intensive sectors such as mining, the tax will not have any impact on the price of electricity during the first phase.

The first filing and levy payment date for carbon-tax liabilities was deferred by government from 30 July to 31 October 2020 as part of a relief mechanism during the national lockdown period. Our operations prepared reports for the time period stipulated in phase 1 and submitted them on time.



Carbon tax rate escalates at CPI +2% pa until 2022, thereafter at CPI. Base carbon tax of R120/tCO.e less applicable allowances.

Ensuring resilience to climate change

Understanding how climate change may affect our operations and key end markets for our products is critical to our strategic decisions. It also gives us confidence in the resilience of our business, as we strive to optimise opportunities associated with the transition to a low-carbon future.

Scenarios help us imagine how the world might develop in response to different assumed conditions. It is not possible to know exactly how climate change will evolve and what its implications will be. However, for mining, we expect the impacts in two broad areas:

- Physical: the potential impact on our operations and neighbouring communities from floods, droughts and other extreme weather events
- Demand for mined products: the regulatory and technological implications of the transition to a low-carbon economy and how this might affect demand for different products.
- To anticipate these impacts and forwards that to present the strategic responses, we have a strategic responses and the strategic responses and the strategic responses and the strategic responses are possible for the strategic responses and the strategic responses are possible for the strategic responses and the strategic responses are possible for the strategic
- have developed scenarios for possible future worlds that represent combinations of a potential set of outcomes.

Our resilience to physical risks

The investment decisions we make today on mine projects could be significantly offected by weather variability associated with long-term climate change. We seek to understand the physical implications of climate change for our operations and neighbouring communities and implement adaptation responses.

Our approach to adaptation includes building climate-change scenarios with the best-available science, using our operating models to identify vulnerability and exposure. We also consider adaptation measures in new project stage-gate evaluations.

Climate change and extreme weather are potential risks for our operations. We have worked with South Africa's Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), a leading research body, to model the possible impacts of climate change and extreme weather and inform the design of mitigating controls. For example, increased frequency of extreme rainfall will require changes in monitoring, infrastructure design and emergency preparedness. Our aim was to understand the impact of changes in rainfall, water consumption, security of water supply and infrastructure. The model we jointly developed with the CSIR is a state-of-the-art, high-resolution climate model, with results used to inform the risk assessment and infrastructure planning work by Anglo American's water and environment teams. The analysis extends beyond 2050. The CSIR team looked at the PGM-bearing Bushveld complex of north-eastern South Africa and the Great Dyke region of southern Zimbabwe. The data from the climate models is used in watercathement models and site-water balances.

Portfolio resilience

The transition to lower-carbon, climate-resilient economies is expected to affect demand for our products. These trends are factored into our risk and opportunity assessments. In 2016, we completed a qualitative analysis of climate-change signposts and indicators affecting PSM demand to 2025. In 2018, we extended this work with a climate-modelling and adaptation exercise across all our operations in South Africa. We developed quantitative scenario analyses for possible future worlds that represent combinations of a potential set of outcomes from physical impacts on our operations and neighbouring communities, and demand for our mined products.

Demand for PGMs is forecast to increase over time, given the ongoing trend to cleaner-emission vehicles under more stringent global legislation. Increasing demand by the automotive industry is likely to be augmented by growing opportunities for emerging applications, including hybrid and hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicles, while emerging countries such as India offer the potential of developing, from a relatively low base, into significant platinum jewellery markets.

We are well positioned to proactively stimulate demand for platinum, including through targeted campaigns in emerging jewellery markets; create new investment demand for the metal as a store of value; and support the development of PGM technologies that are expected to drive industrial demand. This includes investing in primary research and development; investing in early-stage companies commercialising PGM technologies; and working to enable a favourable policy environment for these technologies.

Approach to tax linked to the sustainable development strategies of the organisation

Considering the enhanced focus on ESGs world-wide, it is surprising that the number of companies that provide information linking their approach to tax to their sustainable development strategies has decreased from 46 companies in 2019 to 29 companies in 2020 - a 37% decline. Ten companies provide a detailed discussion on this topic, demonstrating the link between tax and value creation.





Base: 100 JSE listed companies

Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

AngloGold Ashanti links tax as part of economic value generated and also links to SDGs

ECONOMIC VALUE-ADDED STATEMENT

How we create and sha VALU

ECONOMIC VALUE GENERATED

Total Economic value generated	100	5,134	100	4.259
Other Income	0	5	0	16
Income from investments	5	261	3	139
Profit from sale of assets	0	2	0	1
Royalties received	0	-	0	3
Interest received	1	30	1	20
Gold sales and by-product income ⁽¹⁾	94	4,836	96	4,080
US dollar million	%	2020	%	2019

Economic value distributed 1% 6% Total distributed 2020 15% 48% 30% and services 🔳 G





Economic value distributed (2)

IS dollar n	hillion		2020	2019	Contributing to the SDGs
4	Employees	N	508	591	1 New 5 1921 8 101191045 10 1000
-	Salaries and wages		497	579	httit 🍯 🎢 🤅
	Training and development		11	12	
<u>.</u>	Government	R	1,055	736	
Å	Current taxation (3)		562	298	
	Royalties (4)		175	131	
	Employee taxes (4)		209	221	
	Production, property and other taxes (4)		109	86	
;;; ;	Community ⁽⁵⁾	И	22	26	
(;)	Suppliers and services ⁽⁶⁾	Ы	1,664	1,755	18
	Providers of capital	R	221	208	8 continues 17 interests
	Finance costs and unwinding		183	181	M S
	Dividends		38	27	
otal			3,470	3,316	

pinned by our key be avioural progra exception: - Updates y Indexes or the accessitiation and y entity visiting interfaces (interpreted or y of article policy of accessing interfaces) and accessing interfaces and accessing interfa

Source: AGA IR20, P96 and 97



Assurance for disclosures relating to tax and payments to governments



Base: 100 JSE listed companies Source: PwC Building Public Trust Study 2018, 2019 and 2020

We also noted a decline in the number of companies indicating some form of assurance of the non-financial information disclosed, related to tax. Assurance can include activities designed to result in published conclusions on the quality of the tax report and/or activities designed to result in published conclusions about systems or processes which form the foundation to the company's approach to tax. A company can use a variety of approaches to enhance the credibility of its report.

MTN provides a description of the assurance process for disclosures relating to tax and payments to governments.

Independent assurance review of Group total tax contribution (TTC) number

As part of our drive and commitment to improving transparency and to increase the credibility of our total tax contribution number, we engaged PwC to perform a limited assurance review of our total group TTC number in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised): Assurance Engagements other than Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. The assurance to this number has been marked throughout the report. For details of the scope of work, procedures and outcome of the review of the total Group TTC number, please refer to the independent assurance report on non-financial data on our website www.mtn.com.

Source: MTN Group Limited Tax report for the year ended 31 December 2020, P8





Are we at the tipping point?



In the current landscape clear and consistent information to objectively assess a company's position on tax is crucial. Our analysis of the tax transparency reporting of the top 100 listed companies in the South African market provides a useful baseline to understand what type of information companies are disclosing publicly and how reporting practices have evolved over time. Compared to other sustainability issues such as climate change, public reporting on non-financial information regarding tax is still less developed or standardised across sectors in this market - but companies are moving beyond risk- based approaches - centred solely on corporate imperatives to drive growth and profit - to embrace more systemic approaches to integrity issues. This includes multinationals incorporating perspectives and voluntary standards from multilateral institutions and initiatives.

Widespread public concern about corporate hypocrisy and 'greenwashing' further necessitates a more strategic and coordinated approach to integrity commitments. Companies are pressured as never before to take stands on social and environmental issues, but if rhetoric is not accompanied by concrete, measurable action, allegations of hypocrisy will continue to rise.⁵

In 2021 we saw stakeholders calling on a major multinational organisation in the US to disclose global tax practices and risks and more specifically to implement the GRI 207, including public country-by-country reporting of financial, tax and worker information. This is an unprecedented request by stakeholders who clearly indicated their interest in more information on the tax position of the organisation, and we may see more requests of this nature in future.

Tax as a sustainability and ESG issue is a new and developing area and businesses should develop a strategic response to the calls for increasing tax related disclosures. It is important for organisations to reach a consensus and embed their approach to tax throughout the business, including sustainability teams, investor relations and the Board.

Andy Wiggins, PwC Global Tax Accounting Services Leader

We recommend

Transparency for whom and what purpose

This is an essential question of the framework and takes into account the full range of internal and external stakeholders.

What are the views around the business?

Internal consensus on approach is key. Prepare a briefing paper for the board, public relations, investor relations, sustainability, corporate reporting teams setting out the latest developments in tax transparency and how your current tax disclosures compare to your peers.

What do stakeholders want to know and why?

For your external stakeholders, identify what they want to know, why they want to know it and therefore what information might be useful to them. Whether or not you choose to disclose that information is a separate question. You might consider disclosures around tax havens, transfer pricing and tax incentives.

What are the risks and benefits of providing additional information?

Do the benefits of additional transparency outweigh the potential risks? This is an important consideration for internal stakeholders. What are the risks and benefits of providing or withholding information? What is the value of more transparency?

Are the disclosures understandable?

Once decisions on disclosures have been made, consider whether they are understandable by the target audience. Is there a business case for providing additional narrative to explain tax question marks?

Do you have systems to support your disclosure?

The final element of the framework and the ability to gather and report non-financial tax data effectively is to consider whether there are controls and processes in place to support any disclosures and high quality tax data is readily available. Details of board approval of the tax strategy and the tax control framework can help provide comfort that statements made are followed in practice.

World Economic Forum, Global Future Council on Transparency and Anti-Corruption, Ethics and Integrity Beyond Compliance, Agenda for Business Integrity: https://www3. weforum.org/docs/WEF_GFC_on_Transparency_ and_AC_pillar1_beyond_ compliance_2020.pdf



Contact us



Carla Perry Tax Reporting & Strategy PwC South Africa

+27 (0) 78 735 9393 carla.perry@pwc.com



Kerneesha Naidoo

Tax Reporting & Strategy PwC South Africa

+27 (0) 83 627 3956 kerneesha.naidoo@pwc.com



Laetitia Le Roux

Tax Partner PwC South Africa

+27 (0) 82 792 9294 laetitia.le.roux@pwc.com











At PwC, our purpose is to build trust in society and solve important problems. We're a network of firms in 156 countries with over 295,000 people who are committed to delivering quality in assurance, advisory and tax services. Find out more and tell us what matters to you by visiting us at www.pwc.com.

PwC refers to the South African network firm, and may sometimes refer to the PwC network. Each member firm is a separate legal entity. Please see www.pwc.com/structure for further details.

© 2022 PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated. All rights reserved. (22-27726)